
 

222 MCDANIEL AVENUE, B-1 ∙ PICKENS, SC 29671 ∙ 864.898.5856 ∙ WWW.CO.PICKENS.SC.US  

             
 

           
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

CHRIS BOWERS, CHAIRMAN 
ROY COSTNER, VICE CHAIRMAN 

ALEX SAITTA, VICE CHAIR PRO-TEM 
C. CLAIBORNE LINVILL 

CHRIS LOLLIS 
HENRY WILSON 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 

KEN ROPER 

 

CLERK TO COUNCIL 

MEAGAN NATIONS 

 

 

PICKENS COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, June 5, 2023 

6:30 PM 
Auditorium, County Administration Facility 

222 McDaniel Avenue, Pickens SC 29671 
 

 

All meetings of Pickens County Council are held in accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of 
Information Act, Section 30-4-70, et seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, as well 
as the Organizational Rules for Pickens County Council.  
 
WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER:      Chairman Chris Bowers 

 
1. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:    Councilman Chris Lollis 

 
2. PUBLIC FORUM. 

County Council hosts a public forum at its first regularly scheduled meeting of each month. Individuals 
wishing to speak during Public Forum should contact the Clerk to Council in advance of the meeting.  
Comments are limited to 3 minutes per participant and 30 minutes in total. 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   
 May 1, 2023  
 May 8, 2023 – Budget Work Session 
 May 22, 2023 – Budget Work Session 

 
4. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

Updates from the County Administrator on operations, personnel, or other day-to-day matters.                                                                 
       

5. COMMITTEE REPORTS  
a) Committee of the Whole – May 15, 2023 

1) Log No. 80 – COUNTY RADIO SYSTEM: 
 MOTION TO ALLOCATE $10,366,737 OF ARPA FUNDING FOR THE  

COUNTY RADIO SYSTEM 
2) Log No. 215 – COUNCIL RULES  

 MOTION TO REMOVE SECTION 7.2(a)(8) IN THE COUNCIL 
ORGANIZATIONAL RULES 

 
6. COUNCIL CORRESPONDENCE 

Notification of future meeting dates and/or changes as well as community dates of interest.  
 

http://www.co.pickens.sc.us/


 

222 MCDANIEL AVENUE, B-1 ∙ PICKENS, SC 29671 ∙ 864.898.5856 ∙ WWW.CO.PICKENS.SC.US  

7. MOTION PERIOD AND NEW BUSINESS 
Matters can be added to the agenda by appropriate motion, second, and unanimous vote of council. 

 
8. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING AND/OR RESOLUTIONS: 

a) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-23 AUTHORIZING THE ADOPTION OF THE 
PICKENS COUNTY MULTIJURISDICTIONAL HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN.  

 
9. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING: 

 
10. ORDINANCES FOR THIRD READING: 

a) THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE No. 625 REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 6 
OF THE PICKENS COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES SPECIFIC TO THE OPERATIONS OF 
THE PICKENS COUNTY AIRPORT AND MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
11. OTHER REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS: 

a) PUBLIC HEARING OF AN ORDINANCE NO. 623 TO PROVIDE FOR ADOPTION OF A BUDGET 
AMENDMENT CONTAINING ESTIMATES OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE CHANGES FOR 
PICKENS COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 
2023. 

b) PUBLIC HEARING OF AN ORDINANCE NO. 624 TO PROVIDE FOR THE LEVY OF TAXES IN 
PICKENS COUNTY FOR ORDINARY COUNTY PURPOSES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
BEGINNING JULY 1, 2023, AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2024, AND TO DIRECT EXPENDITURE 
THEREOF. 

c) Request from staff for allocation of funding to conduct a feasibility analysis and provide a cost 
estimate for potential emergency logistics center adjacent to existing County Administration 
Building.   

d) Review of 2023 Recreation Funding Applications 
 

12. CONSENT AGENDA: 
Routine matters and resolutions, as well as subject referrals to Council committees, can be accomplished 
by one vote via the Council’s Consent Agenda.   

 
13. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

S.C. Code of Laws, Section 30-4-70 (A) allows that specifically delineated and qualifying matters may be 
discussed outside the presence of the public.  

 
Personnel – Section 30-4-70 (a) (1)  

 Employee Performance Review 
 

Contractual – Section 30-4-70 (a) (5)  

 Project Farmhouse 
 

14. ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS (as needed) 
While the SC Freedom of Information Act allows for certain matters to be discussed outside the presence of 
the public, any votes on such matters can only take place once Council has returned to public session. 

 
15. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

 
16. ADJOURN 

http://www.co.pickens.sc.us/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 3: 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 May 1, 2023  

 May 8, 2023 – Budget Work Session 

 May 22, 2023 – Budget Work Session 

 

 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

1 

   

 

Regular Pickens County Council Meeting 

May 1, 2023 

6:30 PM 

   

 County Council met in regular session, in the Auditorium of the County Administration Facility, with 

Chairman Chris Bowers presiding. Final agendas, bearing date, time, and location of meeting were mailed to 

members of council and local news media on April 27, 2023. 

 

Council Members in Attendance: 

Chris Bowers, Chairman  

Roy Costner, Vice Chairman  

Alex Saitta, Vice Chairman Pro-Tem 

Chris Lollis 

Henry Wilson  

C. Claiborne Linvill 

 

Staff in Attendance:  

Ken Roper, County Administrator 

Les Hendricks, Contract Attorney 

Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council 

 

 

WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER:             
Chairman Chris Bowers called the meeting of May 1, 2023 to order and welcomed those in 

attendance. Chairman Chris Bowers led the Invocation and the Pledge of Allegiance.   

 

 

PUBLIC FORUM:    
Chairman Chris Bowers opened the Public Forum and requested the Clerk to call upon the 

citizens signed up to speak.  

 

1. Junius Smith: Mr. Smith addressed Council regarding taxes and his voting district. 

 

2. Johnnelle Raines: Ms. Raines addressed Council regarding a Resolution she is trying to get 

passed in the Republican Precincts. 

 

3. Reba Krewe: Ms. Krewe addressed Council regarding the Library.  

 

4. Lee Churchfield: Mr. Churchfield addressed Council regarding the Library.  

 

5. Juliet Penna: Ms. Penna addressed Council regarding the Library.  

 

6. David Parsons: Mr. Parsons addressed Council regarding the Motorcoach Resort above Sunset 

Marina at Gap Hill. 

 

7. Kathleen Campbell: Ms. Campbell addressed Council regarding the Library. 

 

8. Jamie Turner: Mr. Turner addressed Council regarding the Library.  

 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

2 

   

 

9. Greg Berryhill: Mr. Berryhill addressed Council regarding the UDSO. 

 

10. Sandra Berryhill: Ms. Berryhill addressed Council regarding the UDSO. 

 

11. Tom Greene: Mr. Greene addressed Council regrading a RV Park in Sunset. 

 

o Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to extend Public Forum for 15 more minutes. Motion was 

seconded by Vice Chairman Roy Costner and carried unanimously (6-0).  

 

12. Heidi Williams: Ms. Williams addressed Council regarding the Library.  

 

13. Lisa Moore: Ms. Moore addressed Council regarding property on Pine Lake Rd. 

 

14. Denise Davidson: Ms. Davidson addressed Council regarding the UDSO. 

 

15. Dawn Crooks: Ms. Crooks addressed Council regarding the UDSO.  

 

16. Janie Moore: Ms. Moore addressed Council regarding property in Pickens County. 

 

17. Rachel Cox: Ms. Cox addressed Council regarding the Library.  

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  

  Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to approve the following minutes as presented: 

o April 3, 2023 Regular-Called Council Meeting 

o April 17, 2023 Special-Called Council Meeting 

o April 24, 2023 Budget Work Council Session 

o April 26, 2023 Special-Called Council Meeting 

 

o Motion was made by Councilman Alex Saitta, and seconded by Vice Chairman Roy Costner. 

Chairman Bowers asked if there was any discussion:  

 Councilwoman Linvill stated she would like to amend the minutes of the April 26, 

2023 Special-Called meeting so that she can deliver full comments for the discussion 

section of those minutes.  

 She would like to add the following to the minutes of April 26: 
 “I have three key complaints about how the process of this fee-in-lieu-of-taxes agreement was 

handled with FN America, formerly known as Project Sierra Foxtrot. 

 

First, despite my requests, the county did not negotiate with the company to offer positive 

community projects. 

 

At the first reading of the ordinance to give a fee-in-lieu-of taxes to Project Sierra Foxtrot, I 

abstained from voting because I felt like I needed a lot more information. 

 

I had just learned moments before, in Executive Session, that Project Sierra Foxtrot was a gun 

manufacturer that wanted to be based in Pickens County. Guns are the leading cause of death 

for America’s children, so I knew that many of my constituents would have some concerns 

about giving tax breaks to this industry. 

That said, I also do not want County Council to be in the business of picking and choosing 

which businesses can operate here. Of course, any business that wants to open and work in 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

3 

   

 

Pickens County is welcome – that’s for capitalism to sort out. But government can choose which 

companies we offer tax incentives to, and we can negotiate those deals. 

 

Since Pickens County was considering offering a 20-year tax break and a $1.5 million grant, I 

wanted to ask FN America as part of this deal to give back to the community they were joining 

in a way that would help Pickens County and mitigate some of the harm surrounding their 

industry. Perhaps they could offer programs that would support our sheriff’s department or our 

schools. I proposed these ideas, and was told that “of course” the company would be doing 

some kind of outreach, and that these types of public relations campaigns were to be expected. 

 

But since this was supposed to be a business negotiation, and I did not want to rely on just 

assuming a private company would offer hand-outs, I pressed: I wanted to negotiate support for 

our police or schools as part of the tax break package. I mean, Pickens County has a lot to offer: 

we have Scholar Technicians as future employees, an environment friendlier to guns than most 

other counties, and even the name “Liberty” to stamp on each gun – we were in a strong place 

to negotiate for our side of the deal. I asked a series of questions about other similar deals and 

community relations with this company. Then, I waited for answers and proposals. 

 

For the second vote on this ordinance, I was out of the country. I asked if I could submit 

comments, but no one responded to me. I asked again about my questions concerning this 

project, and received no answers. 

 

Only a few days before the scheduled third reading did I finally receive answers to my 

questions, and learned that FN America had not offered any community programs, and Pickens 

County had no plans to negotiate for any. This council had assumed actions would happen that 

clearly were not codified. In fact, members of this council were so eager to show their support 

for the gun industry that they gave up any chance to make this partnership more valuable for 

our community. We lost the opportunity entirely to negotiate or even request programs that 

could have helped make our community safer. 

 

Second, from what I have witnessed, the process of economic development is not transparent, 

as too much information is kept completely hidden from the public. 

 

During the time between readings, I wanted to talk with my constituents about their thoughts 

on offering tax incentives to a gun manufacturer, but I could not, due to the terms of Executive 

Session. Economic development conversations are considered especially private, for the sake 

of negotiations, and I had been clearly instructed to say nothing, especially in light of a recent 

public and contentious council conversation about Executive Session rules. I did not like 

knowing that Council was moving ahead on a tax deal with an industry that I know people have 

strong feelings about. The public, however, was never allowed to comment. 

 

Third, the process of three readings should be treated as an opportunity to govern, discuss and 

amend at every reading, and therefore the third reading should not be held in conjunction with 

a public celebration. 

 

When I received the agenda for our third reading for this ordinance, I was surprised to see that 

it was held at the same time as the celebration welcoming the company. Our third reading was 

an assumed yes vote followed by a PR event. This seemed unwise especially when another 

county council in our state recently voted down an agreement with this company in third 

reading. I was put in the awkward situation of wanting to govern and wanting to speak up for 

my constituents and voice their concerns, and yet this was not the appropriate venue to do so. 

 

Due to my three concerns about how this process was handled, in which no negotiation for 

further county benefit took place despite my requests, in which the public was not made aware 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

4 

   

 

of this industry and not allowed to comment, and because the process of three readings was 

railroaded, I would like to make the following two requests: 

 

1.     The process of negotiating economic development deals should be more transparent. 

Specifically, the industry and the type of jobs (pay scale, level, etc.) should be made public after 

the first reading of a proposed fee-in-lieu-of-taxes agreement. This way, the public can know 

what type of business and jobs their elected officials are considering giving tax breaks for, and 

the public can give feedback. As it stands, everything about a company is kept secret, and I do 

not think that is good governing. 

 

2.    I would like to request that in future meetings, the third reading is not scheduled at the same 

time as a large public announcement. Third readings should be treated as any other public 

meeting, with opportunities for debate, discussion and amendments. 

 

Thank you.” 

 

 Councilwoman Linvill made a motion to amend the April 26th minutes. Motion was seconded 

by Councilman Alex Saitta. Chairman Chris Bowers asked for any discussion on the 

amendment.  

 Councilman Saitta stated the meeting has come and gone, and you cannot add anything 

to those minutes. He stated she could ask for the statement to be in the minutes for this 

meeting. He stated if you read the state law, the Freedom of Information Act in 

particular, you can walk out of executive session and hold a press conference, and tell 

the public everything that was discussed in the meeting. Councilman Saitta stated he 

also would like to include that he is a strong Second Amendment Supporter, that he 

welcomes FN America to Pickens County and he couldn’t raise his hand high enough 

to vote for that deal. He stated there are 400 million guns in this country and most of 

them are not used in harmful ways. He stated that gun manufacturers are welcomed to 

Pickens County in his book. 

o Seeing no other discussion on the amendment, the motion carried (4-2), with Councilman Alex 

Saitta and Councilman Chris Lollis opposed. 

 

o The original motion carried (4-2), with Councilman Alex Saitta and Councilman Chris Lollis 

opposed. 

 

 

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT:   

Mr. Roper addressed Council on the following:  

 2023 Council Goals – People, Purpose, Plan  

 Update on Ordinance #619 

 SCAC Award Entries 

 

Council asked Mr. Roper questions that included, but was not limited to:  

 Question regarding Ordinance #619  

 Question regarding Solid Waste Shredding Tires 

 Question regarding Feral Cats 

 Question regarding Motorcoach Resort above Sunset Marina 

 

 

 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

5 

   

 

COMMITTEE REPORT for 4/17/23: 
DISCUSSION ON AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 6 OF THE PICKENS COUNTY CODE OF 

ORDINANCES SPECIFIC TO THE OPERATIONS OF THE PICKENS COUNTY AIRPORT AND 

MATTERS RELATED THERETO - Log No. 212 

 Carlos Salinas stated he comes before Council this evening regarding a proposed revision to the County 

Code to allow for an off runway ultralight operations at the County Airport, which is currently not 

allowed. He stated this proposal is the result of about a year and a half back and forth between the FAA 

and Pickens County. He stated upon receipt of a request for off runway ultralight usage, IAW our 

current code and in consideration of local conditions, we exercised our right to deny the request on the  

grounds of concerns with safety and efficiency.  From there, the request went to appeal with the FAA.  

Mr. Salinas went into great detail how on one side, we are bound by grant assurances that require us to 

preserve public access with some caveats and, on the other side, the FAA acknowledges the partnership 

created by a State entity that owns the land below the federal airspace and retains some ownership 

rights.  He stated the end result is that the FAA advises that we accommodate this request to avoid 

endangering our federal funding and status as part of the National Plan of Integrated Airport Systems 

(NPIAS). Mr. Salinas stated advised in order to do so, we’ll need to revise our code which does not 

allow for off runway operations. Mr. Salinas stated while Staff continues to have reservations about the 

safety and efficiency of ultralight operations at our Airport, he does not advise that we jeopardize our 

funding or NPIAS status. He stated our reservations have been logged with the FAA and we have asked 

our Congressional Delegation to broker our concerns with higher headquarters while we move toward 

implementation. 

 After discussion between Council and Staff, Chairman Chris Bowers made a motion to move out of 

Committee. Motion was seconded by Councilman Alex Saitta and carried unanimously (5-0).  

 

 Chairman Chris Bowers made a motion to move out of Committee. Motion was seconded by 

Councilman Alex Saitta and carried unanimously (5-0). 

 

Council Action on Log No. 212 –Chairman Chris Bowers made a motion to move out of Committee. 

Motion was seconded by Councilman Alex Saitta and carried unanimously (5-0). 

 

Chairman Bowers stated second reading will take place later on the agenda this evening.  
 

 

UDSO – Log No. 141 

 Planning Staff presented Council with a recommended plan of action and had detailed discussion on 

changes that Council would like to see updated in the ordinance.  

 Council and staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to:  

 Wave Growth hitting Pickens County 

 Expanded Proposal regarding:   

 Create 123/93 Corridor Overlay 

 Modify the Comprehensive Plan 

 Regional Planning Committee  

 Appeals 

 Implementation Schedule 

 More discussion regarding Housing Challenges and Attainable Housing Program to be discussed at 

the next Committee of the Whole meeting in May. 

 

 No Action Taken by the Committee. 

 

Council Action on Log No. 141 –SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE ADDRESSING 

GROWTH ISSUES IN PICKENS COUNTY BY AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 

STANDARDS ORDINANCE SO AS TO PROVIDE FOR LIMITATIONS ON SUBDIVISIONS, 

MINIMIZE PRESSURE ON EXISTING ROADWAYS, INCREASE OPEN SPACES, REGULATE 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

6 

   

 

SUBSTANDARD HOUSING, AS WELL AS INCREASE PROTECTION OF TREE CANOPIES, 

NATURAL SPACES, AND WATERWAYS, then recommit to the Committee of the Whole.  

 

o Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill made a motion to constitute second reading of this 

Ordinance. Motion was seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson. Chairman Bowers asked if 

there was any discussion:  

 Council had detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to:  

 Open space and open subdivisions number 

 Minimum size of a tiny home 

 RV’s and permanent residences  

 

o Vice Chairman Roy Costner made an amendment, stating he would like to amend the open 

space subdivision standards from 30% to 40%, as Council already discussed. Motion was 

seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers. The motion carried unanimously (6-0).  

 

o After much more discussion, Councilman Henry Wilson made a substitute motion to leave in 

Committee for further discussion. Vice Chairman Costner seconded the motion and the motion 

carried (5-1), with Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill opposed. 

 
 

ADJOURN: 

Hearing no further Committee business, Vice Chairman Roy Costner called for a motion to adjourn.  

Motion was made by Vice Chairman Roy Costner, seconded by Councilman Chris Lollis and carried 

unanimously (5-0). Meeting was adjourned at 8:17 p.m.  

 

 

COUNCIL CORRESPONDENCE:  

Chairman Chris Bowers announced the following: 

 Non-Essential County Offices will be closed on Monday, May 31 for the Good Friday Holiday.  

 There will be a Budget Work Session on Monday, May 8 and Monday, May 22 at 6:00 p.m. Both 

meetings will be held in the Main Conference Room of the Administration Facility.  

 The Committee of the Whole meeting will take place on Monday, May 15, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. in 

the Main Conference Room of the Administration Building. 

 The next Council meeting will be held on Monday, June 5, at 6:30 p.m. in Council Chambers of 

the Administration Building.  

Chairman Bowers called for other council correspondence.  

Seeing no other correspondence, Chairman Bowers announced moving to Motion Period and New 

Business. 

 

 

MOTION PERIOD AND NEW BUSINESS:  

Chairman Chris Bowers opened the floor for motion period and new business.   

 

Seeing no discussion, Chairman Bowers closed the floor.  

 

 

ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING AND/OR RESOLUTIONS: 

a) FIRST READING IN TITLE ONLY OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND 

APPROVING (1) THE DEVELOPMENT OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND 

BUSINESS PARK PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-1-170 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

7 

   

 

SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED, IN CONJUNCTION WITH OCONEE 

COUNTY (THE “PARK”), SUCH PARK TO BE GEOGRAPHICALLY LOCATED IN 

OCONEE COUNTY; (2) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A WRITTEN PARK 

AGREEMENT WITH OCONEE COUNTY AS TO THE REQUIREMENT OF 

PAYMENTS OF FEE IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES WITH RESPECT TO PARK 

PROPERTY AND THE SHARING OF THE REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE 

PARK; (3) THE DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES FROM THE PARK WITHIN 

PICKENS COUNTY; AND (4) OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 

b) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-13 TO RECOGNIZE MAY 2023 AS  

  STROKE AWARENESS MONTH IN PICKENS COUNTY. 

 

c) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-14 PROCLAIMING THE WEEK OF 

MAY 21-27, 2023, AS EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES WEEK IN PICKENS 

COUNTY. 

 

d) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-15 PROCLAIMING MAY 15 AS 

PEACE OFFICERS MEMORIAL DAY IN PICKENS COUNTY.  

 

e) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-16 TO RECOGNIZE MAY 21-27, 2023 

AS NATIONAL PUBLIC WORKS WEEK IN PICKENS COUNTY. 

 

f) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-17 RECOGNIZING MAY 2023 AS 

MENTAL HEALTH MONTH IN PICKENS COUNTY. 

 

g) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-18 PROCLAIMING THE WEEK OF 

MAY 20-26, 2023 AS SAFE BOATING WEEK IN PICKENS COUNTY.  

 

h) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-19 RECOGNIZING MAY 2023 AS 

NURSE’S MONTH IN PICKENS COUNTY.  

 

i) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-20 RECOGNIZING MAY 8-12, 2023 AS 

TEACHER APPRECIATION WEEK IN PICKENS COUNTY. 

 

j) CONSIDERATION OF A PROCLAMATION 2023-21 RECOGNIZING MAY 12, 2023 

AS “LETTER CARRIERS’ STAMP OUT HUNGER FOOD DRIVE DAY” IN PICKENS 

COUNTY 

 

o Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to approve all of the items. Motion was 

seconded by Councilman Alex Saitta and carried unanimously (6-0).  

 

 

ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING 

a) SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE NO. 623 TO PROVIDE FOR ADOPTION 

OF A BUDGET AMENDMENT CONTAINING ESTIMATES OF REVENUE AND 

EXPENDITURE CHANGES FOR PICKENS COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2023. 

o Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to constitute second reading, and Vice 

Chairman Roy Costner seconded the motion. After some discussion between 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

8 

   

 

Council, the motion carried (4-2), with Councilman Alex Saitta and Councilman 

Chris Lollis opposed.  

 

b) SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE NO. 624 TO PROVIDE FOR THE LEVY 

OF TAXES IN PICKENS COUNTY FOR ORDINARY COUNTY PURPOSES FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2023, AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2024, 

AND TO DIRECT EXPENDITURE THEREOF. 

o Chairman Chris Bowers asked for a motion to constitute second reading of this 

ordinance. Councilman Chris Lollis made a motion, and Chairman Chris Bowers 

seconded the motion. Chairman Bowers asked if there was any discussion:  

o Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill made an amendment to the motion, 

stating she would like to move forward with the budget without having 

this change in Library millage. Vice Chairman Roy Costner seconded the 

motion.  

o After much more discussion between Council, Councilman Henry 

Wilson made a substitute motion to table discussion until after Council 

meets with the Library Board next week. Councilman Alex Saitta 

seconded the motion.  

 Vice Chairman Costner stated if we voted to keep it as the 

millage in second reading, you can still change it by third 

reading, so we don’t necessarily need to table.  

 Councilman Henry Wilson withdrew his motion.  

o After much more discussion, the amended motion carried (4-2), with 

Councilman Alex Saitta and Councilman Chris Lollis opposed. 

o After more discussion, the original motion carried (5-1), with Councilman Alex 

Saitta opposed.  

 

c) SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE No. 625 REGARDING AMENDMENTS 

TO CHAPTER 6 OF THE PICKENS COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES SPECIFIC 

TO THE OPERATIONS OF THE PICKENS COUNTY AIRPORT AND MATTERS 

RELATED THERETO. 

o Chairman Chris Bowers asked for a motion to constitute second reading on this 

Ordinance. Motion was made by Councilman Alex Saitta, seconded by Vice 

Chairman Roy Costner and carried unanimously (6-0).  

 

 

ORDINANCES FOR THIRD READING 

None 

 

CONSENT AGENDA  

Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented:  

 

1) Pickens County Water Authority 

2) Sewer Capacity 

3) Council Rules 

 

o Motion was made by Vice Chairman Roy Costner, seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson and 

carried unanimously (6-0).  

 



 

Minutes for May 1, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting 

 

9 

   

 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: S.C. Code of Laws, Section 30-4-70 (a):  

Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to convene into Executive Session as defined by S.C. Code of 

Laws, Section 30-4-70 (a).  Chairman Bowers further stated that each issue would be discussed as the 

Law provides.  

 

  Economic Development– Section 30-4-70 (a) (5)  

 Safeplast 

 

o Motion was made by Councilman Chris Lollis, seconded by Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill 

and carried unanimously (6-0), to convene in executive session for the stated purposes after a 

five-minute recess.  

 

 

ACTION AS NEEDED VIA EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS: 

Chairman Chris Bowers called the Public Session back to Order and advised the following: 

     

  Economic Development– Section 30-4-70 (a) (5)  

 Safeplast – Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to consider Resolution 2023-22, 

“A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND CONSENTING TO THE AMENDMENT, 

ASSIGNMENT AND RELEASE OF CERTAIN FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 

PROPERTY CONVEYANCE AGREEMENTS BETWEEN SAFEPLAST USA, LLC 

AND PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 

THERETO.” Vice Chairman Roy Costner seconded the motion and the motion carried 

unanimously (6-0.) 

 

 

ADJOURN: 

 Hearing no further Council business, Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to adjourn. The 

motion was seconded by Councilman Chris Lollis and carried unanimously (6-0).  Pickens County Council 

stood adjourned at 9:33 p.m.  

 

Respectively Submitted:         Approved: 

 

   

Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council     Chris Bowers, Chairman of County Council 

 



 
Pickens County Council Budget Work Session Report May 8, 2023 

 1  

Pickens County Council  
Budget Work Session Report 

Monday, May 8, 2023 
6:00 PM  

Main Conference Room 
222 McDaniel Avenue 
Pickens, SC  29671 

 
Pickens County Council met to hold a work session to discuss the FY 2023-2024 proposed budget.  Chairman 

Chris Bowers presided with all members in attendance. The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
Council Members in Attendance: 
Chris Bowers, Chairman  
Roy Costner, Vice Chairman  
Henry Wilson 
Alex Saitta 
Claiborne Linvill 
Chris Lollis 

 
Staff in Attendance:  
Ken Roper, County Administrator 
Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council 

 
 

The discussion of budgetary items included, but not limited to the following: 
 

 Discussion on Millage vs. General Fund Millage 
 Discussion on expansion details  
 Discussion on Library book purchases from 2020-2022 
 Library Budget line by line items  
 Fund Balance chart from last 12 months 
 Plans for Library System Buildings 
 A big priority of the Library Director and Board is to finish the upstairs space at the Captain Kimberly 

Hampton Memorial Library in Easley 
 Discussion on maintenance of the Library Buildings  
 Accounting communication between Finance and the Library/Library Board 
 Council would like to have the Library Board come update every six months at Committee of the Whole 

meetings  
 

 Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill made a motion for the Library Board to come to the Committee of the Whole 
meetings twice a year (every six months) to get an update from the Board. Vice Chairman Roy Costner 
seconded the motion. Chairman Bowers asked if there was any discussion. 

 Vice Chairman Costner asked how many times the Library Board meets throughout the year. 
 Councilwoman Linvill withdrew her motion.  

 
 After much more discussion, Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to pull millage conversion from 

Library for this year only, so Council/Library Board can build operational level of trust.  
 Councilman Henry Wilson withdrew his motion. Council decided to discuss at third reading of the 

Budget. 
 

 Operations of Museum/Library  
 Synergy & workforce with Museum/Library collaboration  



 
Pickens County Council Budget Work Session Report May 8, 2023 

 2  

 # of Library Programs monthly 
 Part-time Public Relations position needed at Library 
 Running out of big spaces at the Library for big events 
 County Engineer to look over renovation plans  
 Discussion on Library fund balance 
 Steps moving forward to finishing space 

 
 

ADJOURN: 
  Hearing no further Council business, Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to adjourn. Motion was made 

by Councilman Henry Wilson, seconded by Vice Chairman Roy Costner and carried unanimously (5-0). 
Councilwoman Linvill left the meeting early before voting to adjourn.  Pickens County Council stood adjourned at 
8:18 p.m. 

 



 
Pickens County Council Budget Work Session Report May 22, 2023 

 1  

Pickens County Council  
Budget Work Session Report 

Monday, May 22, 2023 
6:00 PM  

Main Conference Room 
222 McDaniel Avenue 
Pickens, SC  29671 

 
Pickens County Council met to hold a work session to discuss the FY 2023-2024 proposed budget.  Chairman 

Chris Bowers presided with all members in attendance. The meeting was called to order at 6:03 p.m. 
 
Council Members in Attendance: 
Chris Bowers, Chairman  
Roy Costner, Vice Chairman  
Henry Wilson 
Alex Saitta 
Claiborne Linvill 
Chris Lollis 

 
Staff in Attendance:  
Ken Roper, County Administrator 
Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council 
Les Hendricks, County Attorney 

 
 

The discussion of budgetary items included, but not limited to the following: 
 

 Presentation from Pickens County Soil and Water Conservation 
 Presenter: Kirby Player, Chairman of Pickens Soil and Water Conservation Board 

 Discussion of Budget Amendment Items that have come up since first reading in April:  
 Attorney: $40,000 Unexpected Fees  
 Treasurer: $5,100 Increase in postage for rate increase for mail out of tax bills 
 Fire Grant: $106,800 State grant for equipment  
 PSC Grant $163,803 

 Presentation and Overview of Public Service Commission  
 Discussion of Recreation Funding Applications  

 Council would like to discuss the applications at the June 5th Council Meeting 
 Roads 

 
 

ADJOURN: 
  Hearing no further Council business, Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to adjourn. Motion was made 

by Vice Chairman Roy Costner, seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson and carried unanimously (6-0).  Pickens 
County Council stood adjourned at 8:16 p.m. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 5: 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

1. Committee of the Whole – May 15, 2023 

 Log No. 80 – COUNTY RADIO SYSTEM:  

MOTION TO ALLOCATE $10,366,737 OF 

ARPA FUNDING FOR THE COUNTY 

RADIO SYSTEM 

 



COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL AS A WHOLE REPORT 

 
 

1 
Committee of the Whole Meeting Report – May 15, 2023 

 

Council Members: 
Chris Bowers, Chairman 
Roy Costner, Vice Chairman 
Chris Lollis 
Alex Saitta 
Henry Wilson 
C. Claiborne Linvill  
 
Staff in Attendance: 
Ken Roper, County Administrator 
Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Main Conference Room, at the Pickens County Administration 
Facility, on Monday, May 15, 2023. All members of the committee were in attendance with Chairman 
Chris Bowers presiding. Chairman Chris Bowers led the Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.  
 

WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER: 
Chairman Chris Bowers called the Committee of the Whole meeting to order.  
 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE: 
PICKENS COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY - Log No. 213 

 Tom Ponder, Pickens County Water Authority, and Troy Rosier Group, Engineers & Surveyors, 
presented to Council a preliminary engineering report regarding Lake Keowee water treatment plant 
and transmission project.  

 Council and Staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to: 
 Local Government support 
 Review of PRJWS Water Districts and Municipalities Map to be supplied by PRJWS 
 Review of Project 

 Needs for Project 
 Project description 
 Summary of Project Cost and Project Schedules for Division – WTP and Division - TMS 

 
 No Action Taken by the Committee. 

 
 
COUNTY RADIO SYSTEM – Log No. 80 

 Billy Gibson (Emergency Services Director), Alex Norwood (Clemson Fire), Richard Donald, and 
Richard Crowe (E911 Coordinator), presented information regarding the County Radio System to 
Council. 

 Council and staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to: 
 Review of County Radio System Study – catch up for new Council members 
 The Issues: 

 Antiquated technology 
 No common operating platforms 

i. UHF 



COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL AS A WHOLE REPORT 

 
 

2 
Committee of the Whole Meeting Report – May 15, 2023 

 

ii. VHF 
iii. 800MHz 

 Coverage 
i. Talk back capability in some areas extremely limited 

 The Solution: 
 A new Countywide radio system 
 Common platform 
 Overcome coverage issues 

 Action:  
 Countywide radio study 
 Developed RFP 
 Received proposal from 5 vendors 

 Recommendation #1: Kimball Communications; discussion of pros and cons  
 Recommendation #2: Fleet talk by Rock Communications; discussion of pros and cons 
 Total amount of ARPA funding 
 Timeline of both recommendations 
o After much more discussion, Vice Chairman Roy Costner made a motion to allocate 

$10,366,737 of ARPA Funding towards the County Radio System. Motion was seconded by 
Councilman Alex Saitta. Motion carried unanimously (6-0).  

 
 Vice Chairman Roy Costner made a motion to allocate $10,366,737 of ARPA Funding towards the 

County Radio System. Motion was seconded by Councilman Alex Saitta. Motion carried 

unanimously (6-0).  

 

AMERICAN RESCUE ACT FUNDING – Log No. 177 
 Council and staff had very detailed discussion on State and Local Coronavirus Fiscal Recovery Fund 

Allocations that included, but was not limited to: 
 Pickens County is allotted $24,645,730  
 Discussion of illustration only of allowable uses of recovery funds, per U.S. Treasury guidance  
 Mr. Roper and Council discussed the list of ARPA Funding requests for consideration from 

various County Departments  
 

 No Action Taken by the Committee. 
 

COUNCIL RULES – Log No. 215 
 Council had discussion over their Council Organizational Rules. 
 Council and staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to: 

 Discussion on Council participation in meetings via electronic devices 
 Discussion of a quorum by electronic devices  
 Review of SCAC Model Rules of Parliamentary Procedure for SC Counties (Rule 4.1) 

 “Model Rule 4.1. Alternative Attendance by a Member. A member of the body may 
attend any meeting by electronic means subject to the following requirements:  
 1. A quorum of the body is physically present at the meeting location; and  



COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL AS A WHOLE REPORT 

 
 

3 
Committee of the Whole Meeting Report – May 15, 2023 

 

2. The electronic means used allows both the member to hear all proceedings, and 
those in attendance at the physical location to hear the member.” 
 

 Councilwoman Linvill stated she would like to discuss with the County Attorney before moving 
forward with a motion.  
 

o Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to remove Section 7:2 (a)(8) in Council’s 
Organizational Rules, which states, “Board or commission members should resign their 
appointment prior to announcing or filing for candidacy for an elective office.” Councilman 
Alex Saitta seconded the motion and the motion carried unanimously (6-0).  

 
 Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to remove Section 7:2 (a)(8) in Council 

Organization Rules, which states, “Board or commission members should resign their 

appointment prior to announcing or filing for candidacy for an elective office.” 

Councilman Alex Saitta seconded the motion and the motion carried unanimously (6-0).  

 

ADJOURN: 

Hearing no further Committee business, Vice Chairman Roy Costner called for a motion 

to adjourn.  Motion was made by Councilman Henry Wilson, seconded by Vice Chairman Roy 

Costner and carried unanimously (6-0). Meeting was adjourned at 9:06 p.m.  

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 8: 

ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING AND/OR RESOLUTIONS: 

a) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION 2023-23 AUTHORIZING THE 

ADOPTION OF THE PICKENS COUNTY MULTIJURISDICTIONAL HAZARD 

MITIGATION PLAN.  

 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
    )   RESOLUTION # 2023 - _____ 
COUNTY OF PICKENS  ) 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ADOPTION OF THE PICKENS COUNTY MULTIJURISDICTIONAL 
HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN.  
 
WHEREAS, Pickens County, South Carolina, recognizes the threat that natural hazards pose to people and 
property; and  
 
WHEREAS, undertaking hazard mitigation actions before disasters occur will reduce the potential for harm 
to people and property and save taxpayer dollars; and  
 
WHEREAS, an adoption of a hazards mitigation plan is required as a condition of future grant funding of 
mitigation projects; and  
 
WHEREAS, Pickens County, South Carolina, participated jointly in the planning process with the other local 
units of government within the County to prepare a Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, Pickens County, South Carolina, is aware that revision and updating of the plan is critical for 
active and effective Hazard Mitigation Planning.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Council for the County of Pickens, South Carolina, hereby 
adopts the Pickens County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan as an official plan; and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Pickens County, South Carolina, submit the adoption of the 
MultiJurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan to the Federal Emergency Management Agency officials for final 
approval. 
 
    Passed and approved, this ____ day of __________________, 2023. 
 
 
      COUNTY COUNCIL OF PICKENS COUNTY, 
      SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
             
      Chris Bowers, Chairman of County Council  
      Pickens County, South Carolina 
(SEAL) 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________       

Meagan Nations, Clerk of County Council  

Pickens County, South Carolina 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 10: 

ORDINANCES FOR THIRD READING  

 

a) THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE No. 625 REGARDING 

AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 6 OF THE PICKENS COUNTY CODE 

OF ORDINANCES SPECIFIC TO THE OPERATIONS OF THE 

PICKENS COUNTY AIRPORT AND MATTERS RELATED 

THERETO. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 11: 

OTHER REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS 

a) PUBLIC HEARING OF AN ORDINANCE NO. 623 TO PROVIDE 

FOR ADOPTION OF A BUDGET AMENDMENT CONTAINING 

ESTIMATES OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE CHANGES 

FOR PICKENS COUNTY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 

JULY 1, 2022 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2023. 

 

b) PUBLIC HEARING OF AN ORDINANCE NO. 624 TO PROVIDE 

FOR THE LEVY OF TAXES IN PICKENS COUNTY FOR 

ORDINARY COUNTY PURPOSES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

BEGINNING JULY 1, 2023, AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2024, AND 

TO DIRECT EXPENDITURE THEREOF. 

 

c) Request from staff for allocation of funding to conduct a 

feasibility analysis and provide a cost estimate for potential 

emergency logistics center adjacent to existing County 

Administration Building.   

 

d) Review of 2023 Recreation Funding Applications 

 



 

Supporting Documentation 
 

REQUEST FROM STAFF FOR ALLOCATION OF FUNDING TO CONDUCT A FEASIBILITY ANALYSIS 
AND PROVIDE A COST ESTIMATE FOR POTENTIAL EMERGENCY LOGISTICS CENTER ADJACENT 
TO EXISTING COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING 
 
Based on past experience with feasibility studies, staff estimates it would cost approximately $30,000- 
$40,000 for a firm to do a site visit, evaluate the proposed site, and review the request of what the county 
has in mind for this facility. 
 
The building project would be in the $4.5- $5 million range to include Medic 1, EMS Admin, Emergency 
Services Admin, storage/logistics, and EOC. Spartanburg County did a similar project for around this same 
cost. 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 6: 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Personnel – Section 30-4-70 (a) (1)  

 Employee Performance Review 

Contractual – Section 30-4-70 (a) (5)  

 Project Farmhouse 

 

 


